
Measure Twice, 
Cut Once

Preparing to Release an FMS RFP



Introductions

 Merle Edwards-Orr, PhD, LICSW: Senior Consultant, Applied Self 
Direction

 Marcy Goodman: AAA Program Specialist/New Freedom Program 
Manager, DSHS Aging and Long-Term Support Home and Community 
Services Division, State of Washington

 Kristy Westpfahl Michael: Director of Research and Development, 
ACES$ Financial Management Services 



Roll Call

 Who is from a State entity, County Office (AAA or ADRC)?

 Who is a provider (FMS or otherwise)?

 Who is navigating FMS procurement?

 Who is operating a self-direction program and looking for insights on 
managing their existing FMS contract?

 Who is here because there might be candy? 
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A Guide to Planning a RFP

 Background and Purpose for developing the guide

 Development Process 

 Committee and review discussion process

 Additional resources

 Fiscal/Employer Agent Core Standards 
http://www.appliedselfdirection.com/resources/fiscal
employer-agent-fea-core-standards

http://www.appliedselfdirection.com/resources/fiscalemployer-agent-fea-core-standards


Topic Areas Covered 

 The Role of the RFP

 Elements of a Well-Crafted Request For Proposal

 Technical Components

 Cost Components



The Role of the RFP

 A well-crafted RFP:

 Helps a program get proposals from bidders well-suited to serve the 
program because a well-crafted RFP allows prospective bidders to 
determine whether the bidder could perform well in the program.   

 Limits the questions that arise during the Question and Answer 
(Q&A) period of the proposal development phase.  

 High volume of questions during the procurement = delays in 
procurement timeline



Technical Components

 Definitions

 Program Descriptions

 Enrollment

 Budgets and Service Plans

 Payroll

 Customer Service

 Training

 Quality Monitoring

 Reporting

 Business Practices

 General Considerations



Definitions and Program Descriptions

Why is it important? 
Begin by defining the technical terms you will be using in your RFP.  
There currently are few standard terms for the tasks that FMS 
entities perform. Therefore, a thorough definition of how terms 
are used by the state is crucial. 



Definitions and Program Descriptions

 Not all acronyms and terms are universal!

 Clearly define the program(s) being contracted under

 Number of Participants and Attendants (if applicable) 

 Population description

 Links to program requirement documents and other 
relevant program manuals



Questions

?
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Enrollment

Why is it important? 
After a participant has been deemed eligible for the program, the 
participant must enroll with the FMS provider so that the participant 
can recruit and select workers and begin receiving services. Providing 
clear details around the current process and provider expectations will 
assist providers in determining if they are capable of meeting 
enrollment expectations. 



Enrollment

 Referral Process

 Enrollment Process and expectations

 Role of the FMS, Service Coordinator  other relevant 
entities

 Program Approval Confirmation Process

 Background Check Requirements

 Training Requirements

 Attendant/Worker requirements



Questions

?
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Budget and Service Plans

Why is it important?
The structure of the budget or service plan that the participant 
controls can vary widely from one program to another. How the 
budget is structured and the services that participants can 
purchase with their budget will affect the complexity of the FMS 
provider’s role in budget management.



Budget and Service Plans

 Development of the Budget, what are the responsibilities of: 

 State

 Case Managers/Support Brokers

 Participants

 FMS

 Process for budget authorizations and frequency

 Rolling over of funds

 What are the different services available in the program? (Goods and 
services, savings/emergency funds, gift cards etc.)



Budget and Service Plans Cont.

 Are there rate minimum/maximums for services

 Are there limits to service ratios; e.g., only 1 employee to 1 person 
receiving services?

 Do any of the services qualify for exemptions under the FLSA Home 
Care Rule; i.e., the companionship or live-in exemptions?



Questions

?
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Payroll

Why is it important? 
Payroll is a core function of FMS, and it is critical that a potential FMS 
provider is financially and operationally prepared to handle the program’s 
expected payroll volume.  If you will implement a Fiscal/Employer Agent 
model of FMS, see Fiscal/Employer Agent Core Standards for key participant 
and worker set-up, payment and tax requirements. 

(http://www.appliedselfdirection.com/resources/fiscalemployer-agent-fea-
core-standards)

http://www.appliedselfdirection.com/resources/fiscalemployer-agent-fea-core-standards


Payroll: Frequency

 Requirements for payroll frequency

 Are out of cycle payments expected

 Anticipated amount of payroll across all participants employees across a 
given payroll period

 Anticipated goods and service total during a given payroll period

 What is the frequency and expected number of goods and service 
payments 

 “Prompt Pay” law- required time between end of payroll and issuing 
paychecks

 % of payroll and payments for goods and services issued by:  Electronic 
Funds Transfer (EFT), manual checks, pay cards etc.



Payroll: Emergency Back-up Funds and 
Timesheets

 Is the FMS provider permitted to appoint a reporting agent to provide 
payroll services and file and deposit taxes on its behalf?

 Who determines the rate of pay?

 Is the participant required to have emergency or back-up funds available?

 May the participant use an agency provider in an emergency situation?

 Is there a prescribed timesheet or time collection method?

 What data elements must a time sheet capture?



Payroll: Timesheet Errors, Over-
budgets and Workers Comp

 What is the FMS provider expected to do when the participant does not 
have sufficient resources to cover payroll or any other cost?

 Is there a union in place?

 Is so, what obligations does the FMS provider have towards the 
union?

 Is workers’ compensation a requirement?

 If yes, what will be the FMS’ responsibilities?

 How is workers’ compensation funded?



Payroll: Joint Employer and Overtime

 Is there a joint employer under the Fair Labor Standards Act?

 How are overtime and travel time managed?

 For sole employers?

 For joint employers?

 Are workers’ hours capped or are there other mechanisms in place to 
avoid overtime?



Payroll: Spendowns, Co-pays and 
Erroneous Payments and Fraud

 If the program requires spenddowns, co-pays, or deductibles, is the FMS 
provider required to collect these payments?

 How does the state respond to erroneous payments based on faulty 
information about budgets, falsified time or inaccurate timesheets? 

 Are there specific fraud management procedures the FMS provider is 
expected to follow as part of payroll processing?         



Payroll: Agency Workers, Benefits, 
Garnishments

 Are participants allowed to regularly use agency services as well as hire 
their own workers?

 Do the workers get benefits, e.g., health insurance or sick pay?  How are 
they managed and who pays for them?

 Is the FMS provider expected to handle garnishments?



Questions

?
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Customer Service

Why is it important?
A responsive Customer Service department can help ensure program 
participants, families of participants, and workers are satisfied with the 
program and receive timely responses to their questions and concerns. 



Customer Service - Alternate Languages and 
Formats

 Are there foreign languages that are spoken by participants that 
require:

 Speakers of that language able to take a call?

 Availability of translators?

 Information translated into the language?

 Is there a requirement for alternate formats for written materials?

 What is the specified reading level for written materials?

 Do you require specific communications channels for customers with 
auditory challenges?



Customer Service – Customer Service 
Training, In State Presence 

 What program-specific training is required for customer service staff?

 Is the FMS provider expected to have a physical presence in the state 
or region?



Customer Service- Call Center

 Will the FMS provider be required to have a call center?

 What hours will it need to be available?

 What are the response time expectations?

 What is the current and projected daily, weekly and monthly call 
volume?

 Are there requirements related to the FMS provider’s use of voice 
mail?

 What are the expectations for automated call response (i.e., 
automated menu-driven access to account information)?

 Are calls expected to be recorded and archived?

 Are call and response metrics included in the performance evaluation 
of the FMS provider?



Customer Service –Email and Online

 Is the FMS provider allowed to communicate with participants or 
workers via e-mail?

 Are there encryption requirements if e-mail is used?

 Will the FMS provider be expected to have a web portal to provide 
information about expenditures and available funds?



Customer Service – Complaints and 
Grievances

 Is there a specified complaints and grievance process?

 How is the FMS provider expected to report on customer service issues 
or outcomes?

 Required response time to a complaint and required complaint-to-
resolution time?

 Are there pre-existing customer service metrics?



Customer Service – Transfers

 In states/programs with choice of FMS provider, has a process been 
determined for transfers between FMS providers?

 Are transfers limited to certain times of the year (Quarterly, 
Annually) 

 Are participants limited to a certain number of provider transfers, 
or a period of time before they can transfer 

 In managed care states/programs, has a process been determined for 
transfers between managed care entities, including how service 
authorizations will be maintained.

 How is the FMS provider informed if the participant moves from 
one MCO to another?



Questions

?
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Training

Why is it important?
To ensure participant choice and control is upheld, FMS provider staff 
should possess a deep understanding of the philosophy of self direction.  
In addition, CMS requires that participants receive training on how to 
effectively manage their services. Also, programs may require that 
participant-hired staff complete certain training.  Depending on 
program design, this may or may not be an FMS role.



Training – Training of Employers and 
Employees

 Does the FMS have responsibility for delivering or tracking any training 
to workers or participants?

 Does the FMS provider have responsibility for:

 Arranging training?

 Developing training?

 Overseeing training?

 Tracking training?



Training – Training of Employers and 
Employees Cont.

 What is the required mode for delivery (e.g., in person, web based)

 Is there a fee for the training?

 May workers begin work before their required training in complete?

 What kind of reporting is required about the training?

 Is the FMS provider expected to educate participants about their role as 
employers?

 Is the FMS provider expected to support participants and employees in 
completing their employer and employee paperwork?

 Is the FMS provider expected to provide training on online systems, 
timesheet submission processes etc. 



Questions

?
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Quality Monitoring

Why is it Important? 
Quality monitoring is essential to ensure that program participants have 
access to high-quality services. Implementing strong quality measures 
will improve fraud detection capabilities across the program, promote 
efficiency within the program, and can lower program costs.



Quality Monitoring Cont.

 Is there a single point of access for the FMS provider to gather 
information about programs, participants, and workers?

 Is there a requirement to complete a readiness review prior to 
starting service delivery?

 Is the FMS provider responsible for credentialing providers?
 Is the FMS provider responsible for fraud prevention of monitoring?
 Is the FMS provider responsible for reporting suspected fraud and, if 

so, to whom?
 What are the criteria for identifying suspected fraud?
 What are the expectations around data security and reporting data 

breaches?
 How does the FMS provider learn about hospitalizations or other 

institutional placements?



Quality Monitoring Cont.

 Does the FMS provider have any responsibilities around injuries, 
abuse, or any other critical incidents?

 Is there a process for the FMS provider to report errors that it made or 
that were made based on errors made by participants and workers?

 How is overspending by the participant to be managed?

 Is the FMS provider required to act if participants are underspending?

 Is there a requirement that the FMS provider conduct surveys related 
to its services? 

 What financial and program audits will be required?



Questions

?
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Reporting

Why is it important? 
Reporting serves many critical functions, particularly with regard to monitoring 
program costs and quality and preventing fraud. Issuing spending reports to 
participants can help participants monitor their spending, make sustainable 
choices with their budgets, and detect fraud. Issuing reports to the state can 
help the state monitor program quality and the quality of FMS provided within 
it.



Reporting

 Is the FMS provider expected to produce participant spending reports? 
(Format, Frequency and Process for Submission) 

 Are reports expected to be produced in alternative formats?

 Are reports expected to be produced in languages other than English?



Reporting

 Is the FMS provider expected to produce reports exclusively for the 
state? (List reports)

 Are there ad hoc reports that the state may request?

 How often do ad hoc reports occur?

 Will the FMS provider be reimbursed for them?

 In states/programs with joint employer(s), what is FMS provider’s role 
in reporting across programs when provider serves participants in 
multiple programs under one joint employer?



Questions

?
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Business Practices 

Why is it important? 
Business Practices provides information about how the FMS provider 
operates its business and services as the foundation to all the FMS 
function.  



Business Practices 

 What financial audits do your require?

 Has the FMS provider been audited in other states and what were the 
outcomes of those audits?

 What bonding and insurance coverages do you require?

 What background checks are required of the FMS employees 
(example: criminal, CMS Office of Inspector General, Federal List of 
Excluded Individuals and Entities, etc.)

 What requirements do you have for the FMS providers’ information 
security systems?

 What records do you require the FMS maintain? (Format and length of 
time)



Business Practices 

 Does the FMS provider have a role in case notes kept by the support 
broker/case manager?

 What are your requirements to ensure FMS systems are HIPAA-
compliant? 

 Do you require a Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP) that describes 
how services will continue in the event of a disaster?

 Do you require multiple operating locations to ensure business 
operations can be shifted as needed to accommodate emergencies?



Questions

?
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Cost Components 

Why is it important? 
An RFP that includes clarity around cost components will help bidders 
provide the most accurate possible cost proposal and reduce the risk of 
provider turnover.  This section also discusses billing and reimbursement 
processes as their timing and complexity will have an impact on the 
costs the FMS provider can expect to incur. 



Cost Components – Billing Requirements

 Are bills to be submitted electronically or manually?

 What are the claims submission timelines?

 What is the remittance format? 

 For states with multiple Managed Care Organizations, are billing and 
payroll systems standardized across the various MCOs?

 How does the FMS provider bill for overtime and travel time 
associated with joint employment, if joint employment exists in the 
program?

 Does the state recoup erroneous payments? (Process, frequency, 
documentation and tracking requirements) 



Cost Components – Cost Proposal

 Is reimbursement for participant service costs prepaid, paid in arrears, or 
paid using a just-in-time approach?

 What are the operating capital or line of credit requirements for the FMS 
provider?

 How are FMS provider reimbursement fees and participant service funds 
transferred to the FMS?

 Can the FMS provider charge for start-up costs, including general costs 
associated with launching with a new program as well as participant and 
worker enrollment fees?

 What are the operating capital or line of credit requirements for the FMS 
provider?

 What is the reimbursement rate for the current FMS provider?



Cost Components – Cost Proposal Cont.

 How will the FMS fee be calculated; e.g., per member per month, per 
member per authorization, per check, monthly flat fee?  

 What are the payment terms for the FMS provider administrative payments 
(e.g., net 30 days)?

 Can the FMS fee be tiered based on number of participants in the program?

 Can the FMS offer discounts on their fee: e.g. if a certain percentage of 
workers elect direct deposit, or volume discount based on increases in 
participants?

 Can the FMS charge an implementation fee for new participants?

 Can the FMS charge a new employee enrollment fee?



Questions

?
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General Considerations

Why is it important? 
Potential bidders want to know about how the proposal will be reviewed 
and the contract decisions made.  This is part of the overall 
transparency of the RFP process. 



General Considerations

 Will contracts be awarded to one or more providers?

 Who is responsible for oversight of the FMS provider?

 What are the criteria by which the proposal will be evaluated?

 What is the timeline and benchmarks from the time the RFP is 
released until the contract begins?

 Will the membership of the Review Committee be publically available?



General Considerations

 Will the evaluation and comments from the procurement review 
committee be available to the bidders?

 How long is the contract period?

 Are there options for extensions?

 What is the process for contract changes or amendments to the 
contract?

 Is there a timeline for specific deliverables?

 Are there requirements for years of experience or in-state experience 
as an FMS provider (and as a Fiscal/Employer Agent or Agency with 
Choice provider)?



Questions

?
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Let’s Wrap it up!

 Using this list, states can evaluate their program’s needs and 
determine which items should be included within an RFP and which 
items can be disregarded. 

 If the state is new to this process, it is wise to reach out to someone 
who has experience in working with FMS providers, whether it be a 
corresponding agency in another state or a national association. 

 A well-crafted RFP serves as a key foundation to smooth program 
implementation and mutually rewarding relationships between 
providers and states.



Questions

?
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Follow-up

 Merle Edwards-Orr, PhD, LICSW: Senior Consultant, Applied Self 
Direction: merle@appliedselfdirection.com

 Marcy Goodman: AAA Program Specialist/New Freedom Program 
Manager, DSHS | Aging and Long-Term Support Home and Community 
Services Division: goodmMM@dshs.wa.gov

 Kristy Westpfahl Michael: Director of Research and Development, 
ACES$ Financial Management Services: kmichael@mycil.org

mailto:merle@appliedselfdirection.com
mailto:goodmMM@dshs.wa.gov
mailto:kmichael@mycil.org
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